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          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I believe we have

          3  a quorum present.

          4                 Good morning, everyone. My name is

          5  Leroy Comrie, and I chair the Committee on Rules,

          6  Privileges and Elections. This morning we have with

          7  us so far, to my right, but not to my right

          8  philosophically, as Council Member Weprin likes to

          9  say, is Council Member Lou Fidler from Brooklyn;

         10  Chairman of Finance Committee, David Weprin; our

         11  Majority Leader Joel Rivera; Chair of our Housing

         12  and Buildings Committee, Madeline Provenzano; Chair

         13  of -- I'm getting in trouble now -- Fire Services

         14  and Criminal Justice, is Yvette Clarke; and Chair of

         15  State Legislation, Maria Baez.

         16                 Today we have before us five

         17  candidates for the Board of Health, for our advice

         18  and consent review process. They are Pamela Sara

         19  Brier, whose term will end on May 31st, 2004;

         20  Beatrix Ann Hamburg, M.D., whose term ends May 31st,

         21  2006; Lynne Doreen Richardson, M.D., whose term ends

         22  May 31st, 2006; Angela Diaz, M.D., whose term will

         23  end May 31st, 2008; and Ms. Susan Klitzman, D.Ph,

         24  Doctor of Philosophy, whose term ends May 31st,

         25  2008.
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          2                 The Board of Health, as you know, was

          3  expanded to 11 members by Charter revision proposal

          4  that was approved by voters at last year's election.

          5  The Commissioner of Department of Health serves as

          6  the Chairperson of the Board. The main function of

          7  this board is to promulgate the New York City Health

          8  Code.

          9                 The effective date for the new Board

         10  of Health was June 1st, 2002. At the end of today's

         11  hearing, we will have some questions for the Mayor's

         12  representatives concerning the operation of the

         13  Board which are not appropriate of any of the

         14  candidates before us today.

         15                 These questions concern operations of

         16  the Board and its quorum requirements. The five

         17  candidates before us have a wide background of

         18  experience in the medical field, and each have an

         19  impressive list of personal accomplishments, making

         20  them well qualified for our consideration.

         21                 However, we have had ongoing

         22  discussions with the Administration concerning each

         23  of the candidates professional or volunteer

         24  activities involving the Department of Health and/or

         25  the Board of Health, which may result in the need
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          2  for candidates to seek advisory opinions and where

          3  necessary appropriate waivers from the Conflicts of

          4  Interest Board.

          5                 The Administration has represented

          6  that upon appointment they will assist the

          7  candidates in attaining such opinions or appropriate

          8  waivers. I'm requesting that copies of such requests

          9  to the Conflicts of Interest Board be shared with

         10  the Committee together with responses from the

         11  Conflicts Board.

         12                 The material should be sent to Stuart

         13  Goldstein of our staff. Our approval of the

         14  candidates today, the first candidate to come before

         15  the Committee today will be Ms. Pamela Sara Brier.

         16                 Can you come to the table? Can you

         17  raise your right hand to be sworn in, please.

         18                 As the new candidates, the new policy

         19  of the Council is to swear and affirm all

         20  candidates.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you solemnly

         22  swear or affirm that the testimony you are about to

         23  give us is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing

         24  but the truth?

         25                 MS. BRIER: Yes.

                                                            7

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

          3  your name and affiliation for the record.

          4                 MS. BRIER: I'm Pamela Brier, and I am

          5  currently the Executive Vice President and Chief

          6  Operating Officer of Maimonides Medical Center in

          7  Brooklyn.

          8                 This is not so good, is it?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can someone fix

         10  her mic, or move it away from her? It may be too

         11  close.

         12                 MS. BRIER: Am I screwing up here? Is

         13  that better?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         15                 MS. BRIER: Better, okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         17                 MS. BRIER: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning.

         19                 MS. BRIER: Good morning.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

         21  by Deputy Majority Leader Bill Perkins,

         22  Councilwoman, Council Member Christine Quinn, and

         23  Council Member Melinda Katz.

         24                 Do you have a prepared statement this

         25  morning, Ms. Brier?
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          2                 MS. BRIER: I would love to make a few

          3  opening remarks, if that's all right with you?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That will be

          5  fine.

          6                 MS. BRIER: Is this the right time?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

          8                 MS. BRIER: Good. Okay. When I was

          9  first out of my undergraduate work in California, my

         10  first job was working on a project related to health

         11  care in the City of New York, pursuant to a contract

         12  with Loran Corporation, and for about five months I

         13  had the City of New York Health Department and then

         14  Hospitals Department spread out on my living room

         15  floor.

         16                 I have to say when I moved to New

         17  York in '76 and found myself in 1978 getting a job

         18  at the New York City Health Department, I actually

         19  thought I had died and gone to heaven, I was so

         20  excited.

         21                 I then spent nearly 15 really

         22  terrific, wonderful, gratifying years working in

         23  public service at the New York City Health and

         24  Hospitals Corporation. I had the opportunity to work

         25  in three different boroughs. I learned a lot about
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          2  the City, and then a few years ago, seven years ago,

          3  I guess, I left public service, government public

          4  service, and went to work in a large voluntary

          5  hospital in Brooklyn that treats lots of poor people

          6  and lots of different kinds of folks.

          7                 My years of public service meant a

          8  lot to me, and I had the opportunity to work on

          9  issues related to access to health care, health care

         10  that's appropriate for people who speak different

         11  languages and come from different cultures, I worked

         12  a lot in the mental health field, as well as the

         13  general care field, and I was really truly

         14  privileged to run two of the City's premiere

         15  hospitals, Jacobi and Bellevue.

         16                 I am very honored and privileged to

         17  be here today, and if the vote of the Council is to

         18  endorse my candidacy for the Board, I will be very

         19  honored indeed.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         22                 What do you perceive your role as a

         23  Board member for this Committee?

         24                 MS. BRIER: Well, the Board of Health

         25  members really have extraordinary authority
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          2  actually, to promulgate the Health Code and to

          3  really act in a sort of quasi legislative regulatory

          4  fashion.

          5                 The Board of Health, though, is not

          6  like the Board of the Health and Hospitals

          7  Corporation. You know, it doesn't directly oversee

          8  the operations of the Health Department, which are

          9  very, actually ably run by a Commissioner, along

         10  with other City agencies.

         11                 So, the hope is that those of us who

         12  are selected to be on the Board of Health, who

         13  really have very impressive backgrounds in all

         14  aspects of health care, will be able to advise on

         15  matters related to the Health Code, and offer our

         16  opinions when necessary and when asked for.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: With your

         18  background and scope and everything that you're

         19  doing, do you feel that you'll be able to set aside

         20  the adequate amount of time to meet?

         21                 MS. BRIER: Yes, I do. Yes, I do.

         22  Absolutely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you are aware

         24  that the Committee will be meeting to do a lot of

         25  new initiatives to deal with aspects around public
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          2  health awareness and preparedness with 9/11?

          3                 MS. BRIER: Absolutely. I work for

          4  someone who spent many years of his life in public

          5  service, and that's Stanley Bresnoff, and he is very

          6  enthusiastic and supportive, as is our Board of

          7  Trustees, and I don't think there's going to be an

          8  issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I'm going

         10  to open it up for some other members to ask

         11  questions. Council Member Perkins' hand was up. I

         12  hope I didn't miss anyone else.

         13                 Council Member Perkins.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just have a

         15  question that I'll probably be asking all the

         16  candidates on one of my favorite topics, and

         17  Councilman Weprin's as well, and that's the question

         18  of rats and pest control, which is a major function

         19  of the Department of Health, and as you know has

         20  been somewhat of a problem for our City, and even

         21  most recently it was reported to be somewhat of a

         22  significant problem at Ground Zero subsequent to

         23  9/11. So, I would hope that there would be some

         24  significant focus as we have had in the past from

         25  the Department of Health, and hopefully with your
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          2  involvement, on the question of the pest control,

          3  and especially rodent problems that we're having in

          4  our City.

          5                 Have you any thoughts about that? Any

          6  experiences that you could share or whatever?

          7                 MS. BRIER: Well, only as a City

          8  resident.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Good. That's

         10  a good way to start.

         11                 MS. BRIER: And which I think is

         12  probably the best experience one could have. You

         13  know, in all my years in public service, Councilman,

         14  you know, I think it became very clear to me that it

         15  takes more than good medical care to make people

         16  healthy, and you really can't view, providing making

         17  people healthy without taking into account the

         18  environment, and a healthy, safe environment ought

         19  to be the right of everybody in this City and

         20  everywhere. So, I have to say I'm not an expert in

         21  the field, but I certainly share your concerns.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 I hope that you will, you know, there

         25  is a report that came out through this Council in
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          2  the form of a Select Committee on Pest Control,

          3  which I was a part of developing and I would hope

          4  that you would get a copy of that. We'll make sure

          5  you'll get a copy so that you can look at some of

          6  the research findings that we have in that report,

          7  some protocols that we thought would be appropriate,

          8  in order to avoid certain rat-borne diseases and

          9  other types of measures that we think are doable

         10  that maybe will help inform you and guide you in

         11  terms of your new role on the Board of Health.

         12                 MS. BRIER: And I look forward to

         13  reading it. Thank you very much.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         16  Weprin.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Ms. Brier,

         18  good morning.

         19                 MS. BRIER: Good morning.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: The Charter

         21  Commission provided that the merger of the Health

         22  Department with the Department of Mental Health be

         23  conditioned on budgetary constraints ensuring that

         24  mental health maintained sufficient proportional

         25  funding in relation to other Health Department
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          2  programs, and we had the Health Commissioner and the

          3  Acting Health Commissioner testify recently before

          4  the Council Finance Committee and indicated that his

          5  feelings on the maintenance, maintaining the staff

          6  from the Mental Health Division, and, you know, even

          7  though it's keeping it separately, that he had a

          8  whole plan for covering mental health services

          9  without them sacrificing in a potential merger.

         10                 Are you aware of the issue, have you

         11  studied it, or do you have any feelings on the

         12  merger and how mental health will fare, vis-a-vis

         13  the Health Department?

         14                 MS. BRIER: Well, I am somewhat

         15  familiar with the issue. I was certainly closer to

         16  the issue, because it's been raised sort of

         17  historically in the City of New York, and, of

         18  course, the people who work in the mental health

         19  area are always concerned about getting short shrift

         20  and being sort of the tag end of, you know, separate

         21  from the body, the mind services, and I mean,

         22  obviously, you probably know better than I do that

         23  the Health Department and the Department of Mental

         24  Health are sort of differently structured and

         25  differently functioned. So, it will be a challenge
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          2  to figure out how to sort of manage them together.

          3                 But the notion of trying to work on

          4  eliminating this mind body dichotomy and the way we

          5  think about the health of the public, I think is

          6  very encouraging and I think is a good sign.

          7                 I've only talked briefly with Dr.

          8  Frieden about this. He seems to have recruited a

          9  first rate person. He did a national search, as I

         10  understand it, and found a really first rate person

         11  to run the Mental Health Division, I guess it's

         12  called the division.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: To be

         14  executive vice president, I guess.

         15                 MS. BRIER: Thank you. Right.

         16                 And I think, you know, I think that

         17  the budget issues are going to be as difficult in

         18  one area as in the other, but I think, from what

         19  I've heard Dr. Frieden say, I did read his testimony

         20  and I did talk to him before he got officially

         21  appointed. I think he is very knowledgeable and

         22  concerned about making sure that mental health

         23  issues and alcoholism services get the full

         24  attention that they deserve in a merged department.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes, I got

                                                            16

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  that impression as well. So, you share that concern?

          3                 MS. BRIER: Which concern now?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: The concern on

          5  the part of the Commissioner that Mental Health and,

          6  you know, get adequate --

          7                 MS. BRIER: Absolutely. I mean this is

          8  very -- I mean these are very important issues and

          9  very crucial to the good health of people. I mean,

         10  alcoholism, drug addiction, mental, various

         11  emotional and mental conditions, these are all very

         12  important issues in the health of the people of this

         13  City.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Quinn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         19                 I was thrilled when I saw your name

         20  on the list of people who are joining the Board of

         21  Health.

         22                 MS. BRIER: Thanks.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Pam and I first

         24  worked together when she was at Bellevue and then

         25  her role with various AIDS service organizations and
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          2  AIDS housing organizations, and as you can see in

          3  our binder, Section 1, which is Pam's section, no

          4  disrespect to the other candidates, is frighteningly

          5  thicker, and also --

          6                 MS. BRIER: I must be older, maybe

          7  that's it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And all these

          9  good things.

         10                 So, I think that the Bloomberg

         11  Administration did a great job in finding probably

         12  the person who would be certainly one of the best

         13  Board of Health members they could possibly find.

         14  So, I'm thrilled in my capacity as the Health

         15  Committee Chair to get to work with you.

         16                 I wanted to just ask you to expand a

         17  little bit. One of the questions that you were asked

         18  was something to the effect of what do you think the

         19  biggest challenge is right now in the City, and one

         20  of the things you answered was to try to get more

         21  folks enrolled who are not covered by public

         22  insurance but are available, and that's something

         23  that my Committee and a number of other committees

         24  have been doing a lot of work on. We actually have a

         25  task force with various City agencies. So, if you
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          2  could just tell me a little bit more about your

          3  thoughts on that, how you see the Board of Health

          4  potentially playing a role in our advocacy around

          5  that.

          6                 MS. BRIER: I'm not sure actually,

          7  Chris, and thank you very much, that I see a

          8  definite role for the Board of Health in that. The

          9  Health Department is a major player, it's certainly

         10  not the only player and I gather that the Bloomberg

         11  Administration has sort of lodged responsibility for

         12  the enrollment in a different place, other than the

         13  Health Department. But the Health Department is a

         14  key player, and I just think that there is no more

         15  important issue for the public hospitals, certainly

         16  for the other entities that provide, and for the

         17  voluntary hospitals, not to mention for people

         18  themselves, than to help people become enrolled in

         19  the Health programs to which they are entitled.

         20                 It's a very complex issue, and, you

         21  know, some people end up being eligible for

         22  emergency Medicaid, they're not eligible for Family

         23  Health Plus, and I'm sure, Chris, you are now more

         24  of an expert than I am on this subject. But I do

         25  think that it's one significant road that the City
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          2  can take, and the City Council and the Mayor's

          3  Office, believe me, there's ample opportunity for

          4  everyone to really work on this issue of getting,

          5  helping folks to get enrolled.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If no members

          8  have any other questions -- oh, Councilwoman Clarke,

          9  sorry.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Good morning.

         11                 MS. BRIER: Good morning.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you so

         13  much for taking the time. I know this is very

         14  important to you, but certainly that you're here and

         15  prepared to answer these questions is a testament to

         16  your commitment.

         17                 I'm concerned about the immigrant

         18  population in the City of New York. And the

         19  challenges that they face in a public health

         20  environment. Would you just give us an indication of

         21  through your experience and your background, some of

         22  the things that you think the Board of Health must

         23  look at with respect to the services provided to

         24  immigrants in the City of New York.

         25                 MS. BRIER: Well, again, I think that
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          2  there probably isn't going to be a direct role for

          3  the Board of Health to play in addressing these

          4  questions. There certainly is an important role for

          5  the public hospitals, and I think for all of us it's

          6  got to be a big issue.

          7                 You know, you can't run a public

          8  hospital or work with HHC and not come square, sort

          9  of facing the issue of how you provide adequate

         10  medical care to people who don't speak the language

         11  or understand the culture.

         12                 I certainly think this is true in the

         13  area of mental health services. I do not get how you

         14  can help people out who have emotional problems if

         15  you don't speak their language. I mean, it's

         16  unfathomable. There is an immigrant task force which

         17  operates out of Bellevue and I spent many years of

         18  my life working with them. In Jacobi there are lots

         19  of different kinds of immigrant groups, but I have

         20  to say, and I know you know this, that in Maimonides

         21  in Southwest Brooklyn, there is just a very rich

         22  array of people from different countries who speak

         23  many different languages. I insisted in my job at

         24  Maimonides on having the patient bill of rights

         25  written in ten different languages, and the
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          2  emergency room and around the hospitals, the

          3  sign-maker wanted to kill me when we got to the erdu

          4  part, but, you know, you can't talk about a place

          5  being welcoming unless people know where they are

          6  and what they should do.

          7                 It's a big challenge, it's a major

          8  challenge, it's not just a health care challenge

          9  certainly, but it's something that I personally and

         10  professionally am very interested in. So, you should

         11  keep working on it, it's a good one.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilwoman

         13  Provenzano.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair.

         16                 I really don't have a question, but I

         17  would like to echo Council Member Quinn's

         18  sentiments. We were fortunate to have you for a

         19  number of years in the Bronx, at Jacobi, and we

         20  loved you then, and I know you've gone on to do

         21  many, many more wonderful things. I just was noting

         22  in this tone here, that your association with

         23  Housing Works, which you will be leaving, and I've

         24  gotten to know them better as Chair of the Housing

         25  and Buildings Committee, and if we vote you to the
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          2  Board, I think their loss will certainly be our

          3  gain. So, I just wanted to express my sentiments.

          4                 MS. BRIER: Thank you. Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And give

          7  you a little plug from my own personal experience.

          8                 MS. BRIER: Thank you. Thank you.

          9  You're very nice. You're kind.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Remember we have

         11  five candidates today. Council Member Fidler.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm usually

         13  brief, and I wasn't going to say anything --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You are.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I wasn't going

         16  to say anything except that after I heard

         17  Councilwoman Quinn say something nice from

         18  Manhattan, and Councilwoman Provenzano take claim

         19  from the Bronx, and I had looked at Ms. Brier as

         20  being Brooklyn's candidate.

         21                 MS. BRIER: I am.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And we know

         23  her work at Maimonides and think so highly of it

         24  that I just had to stick my two cents in as well and

         25  say that you would be a very, very welcome addition,
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          2  as far as Brooklyn is concerned, to the Board of

          3  Health, and we know what you've done at Maimonides

          4  and I'm sure that you will do the same, as you've

          5  obviously done in Manhattan and in the Bronx and are

          6  currently doing in Brooklyn.

          7                 MS. BRIER: Thank you. Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's all I

         10  wanted to say, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 MS. BRIER: It is wonderful to work

         12  and live in Brooklyn, I have to say. Yes, it is.

         13  Yes, it is.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I want to

         15  thank you, Mrs. Brier, for coming this morning and

         16  for giving us a dossier on health, and you're

         17  obviously eminently qualified, and we appreciate

         18  that you are looking to expand your public service

         19  to this City and we will be voting shortly. Thank

         20  you very much.

         21                 MS. BRIER: Thank you very much. Thank

         22  you, all.

         23                 The next candidate is Beatrix Ann

         24  Hamburg. Dr. Hamburg.

         25                 Can you raise your right hand and be
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          2  sworn in, please?

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you solemnly

          4  swear or affirm that the testimony you're about to

          5  give us is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

          6  but the truth?

          7                 DR. HAMBURG: Yes, I do.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

          9  your name and affiliation for the record.

         10                 DR. HAMBURG: Beatrix A. Hamburg,

         11  visiting scholar at the Cornell Medical School, New

         12  York City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning, Dr.

         14  Hamburg, do you have an opening statement that you

         15  would like to say?

         16                 DR. HAMBURG: No, I didn't prepare

         17  one, but there seem to be so many interesting

         18  questions, I thought I wouldn't take your time with

         19  one.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, I'm going

         21  to, in the interest of time, because I'm familiar

         22  with your record and other places, I'm going to ask

         23  my fellow members if they have any questions?

         24                 Did everybody burn themself out on

         25  the first candidate?

                                                            25

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 Okay, Councilwoman Clarke.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Dr. Hamburg,

          4  welcome.

          5                 Just a question that was asked of the

          6  previous candidate, because of the change in the

          7  Charter, we're concerned about what this merger of

          8  the Health Department and the Department of Mental

          9  Health will mean for the City of New York from a

         10  public health perspective, and I ask if you could

         11  just give us a few of your thoughts on what that

         12  merger would mean, and how we can best address the

         13  issues in both areas, and where perhaps the nexus is

         14  for the best provision of service in those areas?

         15                 DR. HAMBURG: Well, I think that this

         16  is going to offer New York City actually yet another

         17  opportunity to prove its leadership in an area of

         18  confusion and gaps in treatment and great need, and

         19  I think, as was mentioned by Pam Brier, that there

         20  are many myths and misunderstandings and I think

         21  people are aware of the enormous advances that have

         22  been made in the medical sphere, if you think back

         23  100 years ago what the average lifespan was and the

         24  cause of the death of infectious diseases, what

         25  people are not aware of is that there have been an
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          2  equal number of really remarkable advances in the

          3  area of the brain and behavior, and I think that we

          4  have not yet translated these advances from

          5  neurosciences, the behavioral sciences, the

          6  cognitive and the social sciences into our

          7  treatments and I would believe that, as I mentioned,

          8  this was a wonderful opportunity to be able to

          9  encourage and to model those kinds of translations

         10  of the evidence-based treatments into practice, and

         11  it's been unfortunate that the mental health,

         12  because of stigma, and quite honestly, it's only in

         13  the last half of the last century that the major

         14  advances were made, initially they became in terms

         15  of the kinds of medications which could treat

         16  schizophrenia and take hopeless, miserable people

         17  whose behavior was inexplicable and somewhat scary,

         18  and with the appropriate use of medication restore

         19  them to a functional status.

         20                 I'm not saying they're all perfectly

         21  normal, but capable of working with assisted living

         22  and workshops.

         23                 And then, of course, the major, major

         24  mental health disorder of depression, it is

         25  worldwide, about number five, in all causes of
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          2  death, and I think it's eminently treatable and

          3  think that with the linkage of the health and the

          4  mental health, that the front line health caregivers

          5  have the opportunity to have early detection of

          6  depression, and early treatment, and maintenance if

          7  needed.

          8                 I think that it's been a very

          9  distressing issue that people who are miserable,

         10  unproductive, with depressions, are not being

         11  recognized, not being treated.

         12                 This extends, I have to say my own

         13  background is in both pediatrics and in psychiatry,

         14  into pediatrics, because when a mother comes in with

         15  her child, the average pediatrician is not trained

         16  to recognize what could be flagrant symptoms of

         17  depression in the mother, and who either received

         18  the additional training to address him or herself,

         19  or to make an appropriate referral and one of the

         20  major risks for the mental health children is being

         21  raised by a depressed mother. The evidence on that

         22  is overwhelming.

         23                 The other advantage of the linkage

         24  would be in the epidemiological finding that many,

         25  many of the disorders, mental disorders are duly
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          2  diagnosed that it isn't, or is this a patient with

          3  alcoholism, or depression, or a generalized anxiety

          4  or even schizophrenia, they have both. And I think

          5  that the models are just beginning again to use

          6  evidence-based treatment in which you tailor the

          7  approach to the patient in ways in which you attack

          8  both of the problems at once. And, in fact, this may

          9  be the only way to truly meet the treatment needs of

         10  those kinds of patients.

         11                 And lastly, and you may think this is

         12  way out, but I have noticed that in trying to study

         13  and bone up on what the responsibilities are of the

         14  Board, that there is a responsibility for the health

         15  of children in day care, and I would say that the

         16  mental health of the children in day care should be

         17  also under a consideration, because, again, what we

         18  have learned is that the socio-emotional experiences

         19  of the children, of the pre-school children, have

         20  significant impacts on the actual functioning of the

         21  brain. We have now radiological waves with the

         22  functional MRI which is non-invasive to look at

         23  these kinds of issues. We've also learned that the

         24  underpinnings of learning depend on that, and that

         25  the actual health status, the physical health status
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          2  of children can be impacted and I think this would

          3  put us on the cutting edge if we could begin to look

          4  into that.

          5                 So, I think there are many, many

          6  ways, and then of course the whole issue of the

          7  education of the public about the advances in the

          8  understandings and the treatments of the mental

          9  disorders in order that they will seek them out and

         10  will receive the health they need.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Any other

         12  questions for Dr. Hamburg?

         13                 Council member.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         15  very much. I just have my standard comment related

         16  to rats, that I would hope that even though your

         17  expertise is clearly not quite directly related, but

         18  your position, however, will afford you an

         19  opportunity to pay some attention to this matter of

         20  pest control, you know, the agency has primary

         21  responsibility for these types of concerns, and on

         22  of the areas obviously that I'm very concerned about

         23  relates to the quality of life and the infestation

         24  of rodents in our communities and the role that the

         25  Health Department can play and should be playing in
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          2  that regard. So, I just wanted to put that out there

          3  for your consideration, and as a collective body

          4  hopefully you'll be able to have that matter

          5  attended to with the Department of Health.

          6                 If you have some thoughts about it,

          7  it would be appreciated.

          8                 DR. HAMBURG: Well, I really

          9  appreciate your emphasis on this, because not only

         10  are rats pests in their own right, even if they

         11  didn't have all the other attributes, but just in my

         12  experience as a pediatrician, they bite babies, and

         13  they cause injury and illness. They intimidate and

         14  make children anxious. I think in the new era of the

         15  bioterrorism bubonic plague is one of the potential

         16  vile weapons and I think that we all know by casting

         17  our minds back, if you have read that wonderful

         18  book, Rats, Lice and History by Hanz Vinzer, that

         19  this was the main vector for bubonic plague, and I

         20  believe that as a good public health person, I

         21  always had public health interest, and even though I

         22  am a medical doctor that it's important to get rid

         23  of the vectors, and I think that if for no other

         24  reason, as long as we have this looming over us, and

         25  lastly, I think that rats are, in fact, a marker.
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          2  They are a little bit like the canaries in the coal

          3  mine, that they are telling us that the garbage

          4  collection, the way in which the hygiene of the

          5  household and the neighborhood is not adequate, and

          6  I think that where there is that kind of breakdown,

          7  that there are other aspects of breakdown in the

          8  hygienic aspects which are of consideration. So, I

          9  completely agree with you, and I think it transcends

         10  pest control per se.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 I just want to make one observation

         14  that you may be familiar with. There is a rat-borne

         15  disease called leptospirosis --

         16                 DR. HAMBURG: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Which has

         18  become more common in urban areas --

         19                 DR. HAMBURG: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: -- According

         21  to certain experts, and in fact, the Department of

         22  Health has reported two cases over the last, about

         23  two years ago, of two men who had contracted it in

         24  New York City and died.

         25                 DR. HAMBURG: Right.

                                                            32

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So I

          3  appreciate your response, and in your understanding

          4  of the significance of this particular issue.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 DR. HAMBURG: I think that also Hanta

          7  disease is rat-borne --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

          9                 DR. HAMBURG: And that has not become

         10  endemic or epidemic here, but of course we don't

         11  want it to, and with the mobility of the American

         12  public it's a possibility.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There's some

         14  protocols that we have proposed that the Department

         15  of Health implement similar to the protocols that

         16  were implemented with regard to West Nile virus as a

         17  way of detecting and surveying for the possibility

         18  of these types of rat-borne diseases. We'll send you

         19  a report that to some extent helps you understand

         20  where we're coming from on this matter.

         21                 DR. HAMBURG: Thank you very much. I

         22  look forward to reading that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Any other

         24  questions for Dr. Hamburg?

         25                 Seeing none, hearing none, thank you,
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          2  again, for coming this morning.

          3                 DR. HAMBURG: Well, I appreciate being

          4  here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We really

          6  appreciate your desire to extend your public

          7  service.

          8                 DR. HAMBURG: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And we'll be

         10  voting shortly.

         11                 DR. HAMBURG: Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Our next

         13  candidate is Lynne Doreen Richardson. Dr.

         14  Richardson.

         15                 DR. RICHARDSON: Good morning.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If you could

         17  raise your right hand and be sworn in, please.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you solemnly

         19  swear or affirm that the testimony you're about to

         20  give us, is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         21  but the truth?

         22                 DR. RICHARDSON: I do.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         24  your name and affiliation for the record.

         25                 DR. RICHARDSON: My name is Lynne
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          2  Richardson, and I am vice chair and residency

          3  director in the Department of Emergency Medicine at

          4  the Mount Sinai School of Medicine here in New York.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you have an

          6  opening statement, Dr. Richardson?

          7                 DR. RICHARDSON: Let me just say I'm a

          8  native New Yorker, and I love New York City and I'm

          9  very pleased to have this opportunity to serve my

         10  City in a new way.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I'm going

         12  to ask you -- good morning, again. And what do you

         13  envision is the greatest challenge facing the Board

         14  this year?

         15                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, I think

         16  organizationally the issue that's already been

         17  mentioned of integrating the health and mental

         18  health function into a working entity will probably,

         19  a number of issues will arise out of that

         20  integration.

         21                 I think in the larger view, the

         22  really emerging and increasing threat of

         23  communicable diseases, as a result of naturally

         24  occurring diseases and biological terrorism, I think

         25  has to be something that concerns us.
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          2                 Of course, within my scope of

          3  practice as an emergency physician, this is an area

          4  that I'm very familiar with and very interested in.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: With your present

          6  affiliations, do you feel that you'll have time to

          7  serve on this board to the adequate amount of hours

          8  required to be involved in all of these decisions

          9  and policies that will come before it?

         10                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, I think if I've

         11  learned anything about managing time, it's that you

         12  have to make priorities and that you make time for

         13  the things that are important.

         14                 I hope I have not been misled about

         15  the number of hours involved in this activity, but

         16  as it's been explained to me, I am prepared to make

         17  sure that I can give it the time and attention that

         18  my duties as a Board member will require.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Going through

         20  your curriculum vitae, it came upon us that you

         21  earned your degree at the ripe old age of 26, and we

         22  were impressed by that fact, and it seems that you

         23  have had a very extensive career and being a native

         24  New Yorker, that would probably be a good reason why

         25  you were so -- got your degree at a young age, since
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          2  you experienced medicine in a physical and an

          3  observance phase over time. So, I was actually

          4  interested in when did you decide to move into

          5  medicine?

          6                 DR. RICHARDSON: Actually, I conceded

          7  the notion of becoming a doctor at quite a young

          8  age. I did consider a few other things at various

          9  points in my educational career, but nothing ever

         10  seemed to be quite as attractive in terms of the --

         11  both the opportunity to work as a scientist and to

         12  work with people and make a contribution to their

         13  lives as medicine as a field.

         14                 I think I had the benefit of an

         15  outstanding public education here in New York City.

         16  I was fortunate to be admitted to Hunter College

         17  High School when I was in seventh grade, and I think

         18  that put me on a very fast track educationally that

         19  I've really benefitted by.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You did mention

         21  hours. Were you told how many hours it would require

         22  for you to be on the Committee?

         23                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, I was told that

         24  the Board meets quarterly, and that there is, of

         25  course, a great deal of written material that is
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          2  sent to the Board members and so there is some

          3  preparation time in reading that.

          4                 There are also certain matters which

          5  may be decided without a meeting and between

          6  meetings. This relates to appeals and revocations of

          7  permits and licenses and so on which I was told is a

          8  rare event.

          9                 I do understand that this new board

         10  is a result of Charter revision and so perhaps we

         11  can't know exactly how this new board will work

         12  going forward, but based on the way the old board

         13  worked, I was given to understand that I would still

         14  be able to hold a full-time job.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Especially since

         16  this is a non-paid position.

         17                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yes, and my children

         18  like to eat. Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: They told us

         20  that about the City Council, too.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, Council

         22  Member Perkins has a question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, thank

         24  you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         25                 My first question, are you familiar
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          2  with Barel Allen?

          3                 DR. RICHARDSON: Barel Richardson

          4  Allen is my aunt, my mother's sister.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, good.

          6  She's a wonderful woman. She's a constituent and a

          7  --

          8                 DR. RICHARDSON: As am I.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, indeed,

         10  I noticed your address. You know you have my vote.

         11                 But you know, Ms. Allen, your aunt,

         12  is a very active senior, Harlem Interagency Council

         13  for Senior Citizens, and they're doing a wonderful

         14  job for seniors. They go beyond just doing senior

         15  work, they are very concerned about the rats in the

         16  community, in fact they are the most concerned about

         17  the rat situation in the community, and in fact,

         18  they're the ones that got me so focused on it. And

         19  so, I'm just wondering, in light of your experiences

         20  and whatnot, do you have any thoughts about this,

         21  because it's something that's a great concern of

         22  mine in this Council and maybe you realize the

         23  important role that the Board of Health in terms of

         24  that matter; have you had any thoughts about that?

         25                 DR. RICHARDSON: My colleagues, who
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          2  are also nominees have stated, I think this is an

          3  important issue. I think for all of the reasons that

          4  Dr. Hamburg mentioned, it does deserve our

          5  attention. I'm sure that this will be a priority for

          6  us.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 You might also know that we submitted

         10  your aunt's resume to be on a board here.

         11                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: She told you?

         13                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yes, she told me, and

         14  she shared my dismay over the 42-page disclosure

         15  form that's required to be filled out when you're

         16  made aware of that appointment.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         18                 DR. RICHARDSON: But as you can see,

         19  there's a long tradition of community service in my

         20  family.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         22  very much for it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilwoman

         24  Katz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Hello, Dr.
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          2  Richardson, and welcome to our Committee.

          3                 DR. RICHARDSON: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I guess I just

          5  have a few short questions. I'm still a little

          6  concerned about the time frame. The City of New York

          7  is a very active and aggressive City at times, and a

          8  lot of times health crises, I mean for instance the

          9  West Nile Virus and a whole bunch of other issues

         10  come up at a moment's notice. And we all respect, at

         11  least I respect the reputation of Mount Sinai in the

         12  hospital that you're at immensely.

         13                 Just I guess another thought or two

         14  as to how you're going to handle that with your

         15  present responsibilities, and I guess a little

         16  clearer is I'd be curious to know what they told you

         17  about the time frame really, like exactly. I'm just

         18  curious to know what they say.

         19                 DR. RICHARDSON: Yes, I've actually

         20  shared as much as we've been told. There are

         21  quarterly meetings that are about half a day long,

         22  and a significant amount of reading in between. I

         23  guess if there's one thing I've learned as an

         24  emergency physician it's now to be flexible and

         25  change plans and adapt to changing circumstances,
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          2  and so I think certainly my ability to accommodate

          3  emergencies is probably considerably more than most

          4  professions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: After looking at

          6  your resume, I have no doubt. You're welcome to move

          7  to Queens, by the way.

          8                 DR. RICHARDSON: Actually, I grew up

          9  in Queens and I work at Elmhurst Hospital Center as

         10  part of my clinical responsibility.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Can I just ask a

         12  question on the substantive level? I notice a lot of

         13  the newspaper articles that we gathered about you

         14  talk a lot about your -- I don't know if it's the

         15  stress, but your worry about the fact that people

         16  are not getting preventative health care, as opposed

         17  to showing up in emergency rooms, and I think a lot

         18  of us share that concern that you have and I know

         19  that you've been outspoken on it because if it ended

         20  up in the newspaper, you must have said it a million

         21  other times, as we all know.

         22                 So, I guess, number one, your view on

         23  how the Board of Health can maybe be a little more

         24  active on making sure the children who aren't

         25  covered under Medicaid, as you're discussing, know
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          2  about the CHPs program and the different health

          3  programs that we have in the City of New York,

          4  number one, also the outreach on reducing the

          5  asthma, which I know that you've also been very

          6  active on. And I guess the last point, and then I'll

          7  stop, Mr. Chair, is I see that you have an interest

          8  in defibrillators, which one of our colleagues in

          9  the Council would be quite, I'm sure, excited about

         10  sitting down and talking to you about it for a few

         11  hours. But just those three issues, if you can, how

         12  you intend on using the Board of Health to reach out

         13  to our communities?

         14                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, I guess it's

         15  the nature of emergency physicians to be somewhat

         16  eclectic in our interests because our scope of

         17  practice includes so many things. The view from the

         18  Emergency Department I think gives one a unique and

         19  very clear perspective on how the rest of the health

         20  care system works and doesn't work. And I think it

         21  is my experiences in seeing the individuals who wind

         22  up in the emergency department, often having fallen

         23  through the cracks of our health care system, that

         24  have made me outspoken, if you want to describe it

         25  that way, on the issue of the issues of access to

                                                            43

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  health care.

          3                 Again, as I understand it, I'm not

          4  sure there's a direct role for the Board of Health

          5  in at least some of the issues you mentioned. It

          6  does seem to me this would be more directly under

          7  the purview of the Health and Hospitals Corporation,

          8  but I do think these are important issues. I think

          9  some progress has certainly been made. I think New

         10  York has actually done better with CHPs than many

         11  other states. I wish that there hadn't been so

         12  little progress in so many places so that that would

         13  be a more meaningful statement, but I do think a

         14  start has been made, and that there is a commitment

         15  to expand that program.

         16                 There has been some progress made on

         17  asthma, which continues to be a major threat,

         18  particularly to our most vulnerable population.

         19                 And the interest of defibrillators is

         20  an interesting one. One of my research projects is

         21  something called the public access defibrillation

         22  trial, where we went out and actually recruited

         23  community buildings to be randomized to get CP or

         24  only training or CPR plus AED training. And I guess

         25  the best thing about the PAD trial for me has been
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          2  the opportunity to actually work in the community,

          3  because this whole project takes place outside the

          4  walls of any medical center and actually takes place

          5  in the community.

          6                 And I think there are some

          7  interesting public policy implications to how we

          8  should use defibrillators and how they can be made

          9  cost effective, and the City clearly has already

         10  invested a significant sum in the placement of

         11  defibrillators and I hope the continuing evidence

         12  that's coming out of projects like PAD (phonetic)

         13  will help inform how best to use those assets.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: On account that

         15  I think we're all wondering exactly the jurisdiction

         16  as this new board is expanded, but I would just hope

         17  that with all the expertise that you obviously bring

         18  to the board, that we would talk in the future about

         19  outreach into the communities and use your expertise

         20  really to try and get the word out more on

         21  preventative health care.

         22                 DR. RICHARDSON: I hope that the

         23  Council members will feel free to approach me with

         24  anything they think I can be of help on.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Fidler.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.

          6                 Doctor, I've also had an opportunity

          7  to review your very impressive resume, and I see

          8  somewhere down here on page 27 that in 1994 you

          9  wrote an article entitled "Tobacco Taxes As A Public

         10  Health Measure," which is certainly an issue that is

         11  very, very much present before us at City Hall in

         12  these very days, and I'm curious as to what

         13  conclusion you reached in that article?

         14                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, it was my

         15  opinion then, and it continues to be my opinion that

         16  tobacco taxes are a very effective public health

         17  measure because they do deter smoking. They

         18  differentially deter it amongst youth, and the gist

         19  of that argument in that article was that if we had

         20  a prevention program that would reduce tobacco use

         21  by, I think the estimate at that time was something

         22  like 12 or 15 percent and would reduce it about 30

         23  percent and the other 18, under 18 population, that

         24  would probably be willing to invest a significant

         25  amount of money in such a program, and tobacco taxes
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          2  were a way of doing that that would actually

          3  generate revenues, it seemed to me to be a no

          4  brainer that this was an approach that should be

          5  taken, and actually tobacco taxes have been raised

          6  many times since 1994, so I think legislative bodies

          7  around the country have taken the point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And so I would

          9  assume then that you would be fully supportive of

         10  the contemplative cigarette tax increase where

         11  that's before us now?

         12                 DR. RICHARDSON: Well, the more they

         13  cost, the less kids smoke.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         16  Quinn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. I

         18  just wanted to, on the issue of the tobacco tax, I

         19  just wanted to, is it your experience that a tobacco

         20  tax alone can successfully deter people from smoking

         21  without corresponding cessation programs or public

         22  health information, grassroots community-based work,

         23  et cetera?

         24                 DR. RICHARDSON: I think you make an

         25  excellent point.
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          2                 I think the tobacco tax acts in large

          3  part as a deterrent to people who have not yet

          4  started smoking, but I think once people are

          5  addicted to tobacco, it does take a great deal more

          6  in the way of education and support services to help

          7  them fight that addiction, so as with any complex

          8  issue, I think you have to take a multi-pronged

          9  approach and look at all of the tools available to

         10  help address the issue. I think tobacco taxes are

         11  just one such measure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

         13  much. Good luck on the board.

         14                 DR. RICHARDSON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, no other

         16  questions. No? Okay.

         17                 I want to thank you, Dr. Richardson,

         18  I appreciate your comments about the 42-page

         19  application, but I have to let you know that this

         20  Committee feels strongly about giving the candidates

         21  an opportunity to say, quote/unquote bone up on the

         22  boards that they're looking to be a part of, just in

         23  case once you do review the questions which we try

         24  to focus on policy for the agency, that you can make

         25  the really informed decision about your time and
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          2  commitment to that process. So we feel that the

          3  questions are integral to your ability to check with

          4  the agency, that you may be looking to be a board

          5  member, this is not pertaining to just the Health

          6  Department, but in general, we appreciate your

          7  desire for public service. We feel that you should

          8  be fully informed before you make that step to be a

          9  public servant, and that's why we want to make sure

         10  that the questions are comprehensive and cover all

         11  aspects of the service that you're desiring to go

         12  into. We would hope that the time required is not

         13  onerous to you and that we feel that you will be an

         14  active and vocal member and we look forward to your

         15  service.

         16                 DR. RICHARDSON: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. We'll

         19  be voting shortly.

         20                 In the interest of time and the fact

         21  that we're running late, if there are no objections

         22  I'd like to call the last two candidates together,

         23  because Finance was supposed to start in here at

         24  11:30, so if we could have Dr. Angela Diaz, and Dr.

         25  Susan Klitzman come up together. Sorry, but we are
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          2  running a little late.

          3                 If you could raise your right hand so

          4  you could be sworn in?

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you solemnly

          6  swear or affirm that the testimony you're about to

          7  give us is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

          8  but the truth?

          9                 DR. DIAZ: I do.

         10                 DR. KLITZMAN: I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         12  your names and affiliation for the record.

         13                 DR. DIAZ: My name is Angela Diaz, I'm

         14  a Professor of Pediatrics and Director of the Mount

         15  Sinai Adolescent Health Center at the Mount Sinai

         16  School of Medicine.

         17                 DR. KLITZMAN: My name is Dr. Susan

         18  Klitzman, I'm an Associate Professor in the Urban

         19  Public Health Program, Hunter College, City

         20  University of New York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning,

         22  again, ladies. Do either one of you have an opening

         23  statement?

         24                 DR. DIAZ: I would like to say a few

         25  words. I want to share with you sort of a little bit
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          2  of my personal journey and why I'm so interested in

          3  this.

          4                 I came from the Dominican Republic at

          5  the age of 15. Basically extreme poverty, and not

          6  knowing English and really had to acclimate to the

          7  new environment. And in this country I was able to

          8  work very hard and eventually pursue a medical

          9  career.

         10                 And as part of growing up, I had no

         11  access to health care and no insurance, and I know

         12  how costly that is, both to the individual and to

         13  society.

         14                 So, since I finished med school, I

         15  came to Sinai, and I have been working, basically

         16  dedicating my professional life to working with

         17  young people of all walks of life to try to help

         18  them also pursue their dream and get an opportunity

         19  that they should have to reach their full potential.

         20                 DR. KLITZMAN: I don't have a prepared

         21  statement, but I will say that I, like some of the

         22  other candidates, am a native New Yorker. I have

         23  devoted my whole professional career to public

         24  health and the advancement of public health goals,

         25  and I consider it an honor and a privilege to be
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          2  considered for appointment to the Board of Health.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And Council

          5  Member Quinn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

          7  say that first Dr. Diaz and I have actually never

          8  had the actual experience of working together very

          9  closely, so I'm very excited for you to be on the

         10  board and me be the chair of the Health Committee,

         11  but I know your record and your reputation in the

         12  community that I work in so I was thrilled to see

         13  your name on the list because I know you were

         14  thought of so very, very highly and whenever I'm

         15  asking people for suggestions to people to reach out

         16  to for advice and stuff, since I became Health

         17  Committee Chair you have always been suggested, so

         18  now I will definitely call you to sit down for a

         19  meeting. So best of luck.

         20                 And also, I just wanted to say that I

         21  was called this morning by Council Member Moskowitz,

         22  and she asked me to convey the Committee her

         23  enthusiasm for Dr. -- Dr. Klitzman for your

         24  candidacy on the board. Not that I don't have

         25  enthusiasm, I'm just not familiar with your record,
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          2  so I told Eva I would convey that to everyone.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Any other

          4  questions for the candidates?

          5                 Yes, Council Member Perkins.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Needless to

          7  say, your resumes are quite outstanding, and I just

          8  wanted to ask, give you an opportunity to share, as

          9  I gave others your understanding about the problems

         10  of rat control and related health and other concerns

         11  that we have in the Council, if you will.

         12                 DR. DIAZ: I can say, I know you have

         13  a lot of experience with that, I will have to say

         14  that having lived most of my life among roaches and

         15  rats, then working in the emergency room, seeing

         16  kids that were bitten and also have asthma and other

         17  illnesses exacerbated by things like that, I cannot

         18  agree with you more. And also having lived in places

         19  where you don't have that, I know what is

         20  achievable, and we just need to make sure that we

         21  work very hard so no one has to live in those

         22  conditions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         24                 DR. KLITZMAN: Well, let me see. I

         25  think I first became aware of the rat problem on my
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          2  way to school every morning. I went to public school

          3  at PS 84 in Manhattan, and we used to pass a vacant

          4  lot that had these brightly colored, I think they

          5  were pink packages of rat poisoning, and of course,

          6  what could be more appealing to a young kid than to

          7  open up those packages, but I was warned by my mom

          8  after attempting I think that that wasn't a good

          9  idea.

         10                 But in my professional career, even

         11  though not directly, I had some indirect involvement

         12  with the issue and I think what's important is

         13  really partnership, that multiple sectors of the

         14  City are really needed to effectively address the

         15  problem, and by that I mean tenants, building

         16  owners, both the public and private entities

         17  responsible for sanitation.

         18                 I just heard some commentary on the

         19  news this morning about the issue of recycling, and

         20  I think it relates to the rat issue, the concern as

         21  to whether it's possible in a City like New York to

         22  expand recycling when you have so many barriers,

         23  such as not enough space to sort trash and the issue

         24  of separation and motivation and multi-language and

         25  on and on.

                                                            54

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 So I think what when you're talking

          3  about controlling the problem of rats, I go back to

          4  my public health training which has taught me about

          5  primary prevention and really trying to control the

          6  sources of what would cause the rat population to

          7  promulgate and that's basically food and water.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, thank

          9  you very much.

         10                 I appreciate your responses and,

         11  again, we'll make sure that you get a copy of this

         12  report that was done on that matter, some

         13  suggestions that the Council had come up with, based

         14  on a summit that we had with some world renown

         15  experts on this, and hopefully it will inform you in

         16  terms of what you do when you become a member of the

         17  Board.

         18                 Congratulations and thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         21  Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Good

         23  afternoon, ladies. And I just wanted to raise a

         24  question about immigrants, and this may be near and

         25  dear to you, Dr. Diaz, but of course I'm concerned
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          2  about the fact that New York City is a pretty fluid

          3  City with respect to immigration, and the

          4  ramifications of that with respect to public health.

          5  Recently there was a public health scare actually in

          6  Yonkers, and it involved a group of folks of, I

          7  guess it was Middle Eastern descent and folks were

          8  trying to figure out whether it was chemical,

          9  biological, whether it was related to the food that

         10  they ate. And I really believe, particularly because

         11  of the community that I represent, that there are

         12  specific concerns to people who are very mobile, in

         13  terms of traveling in and out of the country to

         14  visit families and what have you or are moving here

         15  and not necessarily immunized in the same way that

         16  we are here in the United States, that there are

         17  some specific concerns that need to be focused on

         18  with respect to the immigrant population within the

         19  City of New York. I just wanted to get your thoughts

         20  on that, or any concerns that may have come your

         21  way?

         22                 DR. DIAZ: Yes, I agree with you. From

         23  the population that I serve, 50 percent are Latino,

         24  many of them are immigrants, and also just from

         25  knowing the City, and I think the key is to make
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          2  sure that whenever people come to the US, and to New

          3  York City in particular, they have access to good,

          4  cultural, sensitive and very specific services.

          5  People that can really take a good history, we

          6  understand their culture and their background, and

          7  that they can provide the kind of services that will

          8  help the health status, like giving them the

          9  organizations that they didn't have it, and that

         10  would protect that individual but also would protect

         11  the rest of the City. And I think we just really

         12  need to make sure there are so many people in the

         13  City, whether they're immigrants or not, that have

         14  no insurance and have no access to health care, that

         15  I think it's really problematic for everyone.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If there are no

         17  other questions for the candidates, I would also

         18  want to thank you for your desire to extend your

         19  public service and your commitment to this City by

         20  being, by coming to us for consideration to serve on

         21  the health board, health advisory board. And we will

         22  be voting shortly. Thank you very much.

         23                 DR. DIAZ: Thank you.

         24                 DR. KLITZMAN: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: At this time I'd

                                                            57

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  like to have the vote on the candidates, for all

          3  five candidates.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: How many

          5  members are on this board currently?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: This is just the

          7  commissioners, the Board is just being established.

          8  As you know, it was just voted in the last charter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So these are

         10  the first five members.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: First five

         12  members.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And the other

         14  members are appointed by?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The other members

         16  have to come to us.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: From the

         18  Mayor?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: From the Mayor.

         20  And we're going to actually have Mr. Crowell come

         21  and speak to us in a minute about those issues, the

         22  quorum and everything else.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I was just

         24  wondering where all the male applicants were on the

         25  issue of gender diversity, the rest of the diversity

                                                            58

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  seems to be pretty nice.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I actually wanted

          4  to congratulate --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chair?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'd like to

          8  make a comment on that. I think that it's to the

          9  Mayor's credit that we see a reflection of the

         10  expertise in this area, and that it's quite capably

         11  demonstrated by women. So, I'd like to applaud the

         12  Mayor for his vision in this area.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: For someone

         15  that's been advocating with me for diversity and

         16  having more women in the Fire Department, because I

         17  know Chair Clarke chairs the Fire and Criminal

         18  Justice, I also want to praise the Mayor. Although I

         19  will point out the Chair who is the Health

         20  Commissioner is a man.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Although we

         22  congratulate the Mayor on today, we would like to

         23  implore him to follow suit in some of his other

         24  appointments, as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That was what I
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          2  was going to say. I congratulate the Mayor's Office

          3  for having a diverse set of expertise, and coming

          4  before us today, and I hope that that will reflect,

          5  as I have been inquiring and asking and pleading to

          6  the Mayor's office to make sure that in all of the

          7  candidates that come before us, that we have the

          8  similar reflection of diversity of expertise. I'm

          9  not going to get into gender, because the expertise

         10  is the key. So, at this point can we vote on the

         11  candidates? I would like to vote on all five persons

         12  at one time, if it pleases the Committee. And at

         13  this point we'll just go right around the room,

         14  starting with Council Member Perkins.

         15                 Oh, I'm sorry, that's not my job.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

         20  take a quick moment to explain my vote.

         21                 You know, I obviously am very

         22  impressed with the candidates that came before us

         23  and pleased of the diversity, and it appears as if,

         24  Mr. Chairman, you're concerns that have been

         25  expressed over the last few months and in that vain
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          2  have been answered, at least in terms of this panel.

          3  And my concerns in terms of the pest control issue,

          4  particularly the rodent infestation problems were

          5  quite, adequately and in some cases quite eloquently

          6  addressed by this panel, so I'm confident that this

          7  Council's focus on pest control and rat abatement

          8  and eradication of related issues is going to be

          9  looked after by this group of candidates, and so I'm

         10  proud and pleased to vote aye on all.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I would

         14  just like to say before I vote that I'm sorry that I

         15  missed the little swarae' on the whole female thing.

         16  I think it's wonderful that we have five such

         17  prestigious women who will I am sure make a

         18  wonderful contribution to the Board. And I vote yes

         19  on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye on

         24  all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Avella.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Aye on all.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye on all.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye on all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye on all.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on all.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: As someone whose

         13  mother is a woman, I vote aye on all.

         14                 On a serious note, I'm sorry I missed

         15  the discussion on the defibrillators, and I'm going

         16  to see Ms. Richardson later on. I'd like to talk to

         17  you about that later on. Thank you. Dr. Richardson.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Speaker Mr. Miller.

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 12 in the

         22  affirmative, none in the negative, no abstentions,

         23  the items are adopted. Please sign the reports.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Members, please

         25  sign the Committee report. We do have a couple of
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          2  questions for Mr. Anthony Crowell, the Special

          3  Counsel for the Mayor, just regarding the questions

          4  that you had, Council Member Fidler, regarding the

          5  composition of the Board.

          6                 We want to congratulate all of the

          7  candidates, that as you have heard the Committee has

          8  unanimously appointed you and we hope that we will

          9  look forward to distinguished service.

         10                 Good morning, Mr. Crowell, as soon as

         11  our Counsel is ready, to swear or affirm your

         12  presence.

         13                 But I'd like to say in the meantime,

         14  welcome aboard. I understand you're newly appointed,

         15  less than a month.

         16                 MR. CROWELL: Yes. Just serving a few

         17  months, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: When you're

         19  ready, if you can swear him in.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you solemnly

         21  swear or affirm that the testimony you're about to

         22  give is the truth, the whole truth and nothing but

         23  the truth?

         24                 MR. CROWELL: I do.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state
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          2  your name and affiliation for the record.

          3                 MR. CROWELL: My name is Anthony

          4  Crowell. I'm Special Counsel to Mayor Michael

          5  Bloomberg.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning,

          7  again, Mr. Crowell.

          8                 We just wanted to ask a couple of

          9  questions about the quorum for the Board, and

         10  whether or not these candidates will satisfy the

         11  requirements to have an official quorum for the

         12  Board, since the Board was supposed to start on June

         13  1st of this year.

         14                 MR. CROMWELL: Yes. I should also say

         15  by way of introduction that last summer I served as

         16  General Counsel to the Charter Revision Commission

         17  and I was responsible for assisting in the

         18  preparation of the amendments to the Charter

         19  concerning the Board of Health.

         20                 The vote you just took on the five

         21  appointees will assist in satisfying the quorum

         22  requirement.

         23                 Currently the Administration views

         24  that the Chairman of the Board of Health of the

         25  Commissioner of the Department of Health, Tom
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          2  Frieden, also the Chair of the Mental Hygiene

          3  Advisory Board is an ex-officio member, so that's

          4  two members. These five members added to that make a

          5  total of seven, and a majority of the board of 11

          6  would be six, so seven members satisfies the quorum

          7  requirement.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, thank you.

          9  We have a question regarding the appointment of one

         10  individual for the Board who is also the Chairperson

         11  of the Mental Health Advisory Board. We believe that

         12  that person requires advice and consent from the

         13  Rules Committee also, and we would like to just get

         14  your initial opinion now and we could have further

         15  discussion later since we're pressed for time.

         16                 MR. CROWELL: Right. It's my opinion,

         17  using my opinion based on general counsel, general

         18  counsel to the Charter Commission and also as a

         19  former Assistant Corporation Counsel in the Division

         20  of Legal Counsel at the Law Department, and it's

         21  also the Law Department's opinion that the

         22  ex-officio membership of the mental hygiene advisory

         23  board chair is not subject to counsel advice and

         24  consent.

         25                 The rationale for that is first off
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          2  ex-officio members typically are not subject to

          3  advice and consent. Had we intended that member to

          4  be subject to advice and consent, we would have done

          5  so explicitly in the Charter. We wouldn't have

          6  intended to curtail the Mayor's powers any further

          7  without explicitly having done so.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. We'll have

          9  to have that open for further discussion.

         10                 MR. CROWELL: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And if we could

         12  get that in writing, we'd appreciate it.

         13                 And if you could just confirm that

         14  you will be asking those candidates to submit

         15  letters to the Conflicts of Interest Board to clear

         16  up any doubt about any activities that may be

         17  incongruous but that are not compatible, and that

         18  those letters will be sent out.

         19                 MR. CROWELL: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If you could just

         21  say that for the record.

         22                 MR. CROWELL: Sure. I've engaged in

         23  extensive discussions with your staff, Stuart

         24  Goldstein, in particular, concerning the

         25  professional affiliation, the volunteer affiliation,
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          2  that the members you just voted on have with various

          3  entities, and the Administration will be assisting

          4  them over the next few weeks and preparing letters

          5  to the Conflicts of Interest Board, making the Board

          6  aware of these outside activities and asking for a

          7  waiver pursuant to Chapter 68 of the Charter.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, thank you.

          9                 MR. CROWELL: You're welcome.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Unless any

         11  other members have questions, we're done.

         12                 Then I'd like to congratulate the

         13  Mayor's Office for the diversity in the selection of

         14  candidates and especially to have such an excellent

         15  set of candidates with their backgrounds and

         16  expertise, will be a major enhancement to this

         17  Board, and I am sure that as the Mayor's Office does

         18  additional outreach for the other boards, that they

         19  will be able to continue the track record that

         20  they've demonstrated today with diversity.

         21                 We're going to hold the vote open for

         22  any Council members that didn't get to vote, and

         23  Finance will be meeting straight away, that vote

         24  will be held open.

         25                 Okay, Council Member Baez, we would
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          2  like to get your vote for the record now please.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: I vote aye on

          4  all.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. So now

          6  we have 13 in the affirmative and none in the

          7  negative.

          8                 Do you have any other questions or

          9  statements for us at this time?

         10                 MR. CROWELL: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No, okay.

         12                 MR. CROWELL: I will convey to the

         13  Mayor your sentiment on the diversity of the

         14  expertise of the members and I look forward to

         15  working with you in the future.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, if that be

         17  all then I would adjourn the meeting. Thank you very

         18  much, everyone. Have a good morning.

         19                 Oh, I'm sorry, it's not pertaining to

         20  you, but we do have some information that was handed

         21  out to the members for the Committee regarding the

         22  presentation of resolutions. That's not going to be

         23  voted on today, or discussed today, that will be

         24  discussed for the next meeting. That's just so you

         25  can have a background briefing.
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          2                 If you have any questions, you can

          3  contact Stuart Goldstein or Ed O'Malley to make some

          4  inquiries or any technical suggestions.

          5                 I want to thank the Committee, Ed

          6  O'Malley and Stuart Goldstein, for doing a wonderful

          7  job with getting their end of this process together,

          8  and the meeting is adjourned.

          9                 Remember, these documents are

         10  confidential, so they have to be returned.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Will the

         12  members of the Finance Committee please stay here,

         13  we're having our Finance Committee meeting right now

         14  in this room. So please stay here if you're on the

         15  Finance Committee.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 12:04 p.m.)

         17
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